Clerk of the Court Received 09/30/2022 12:28 PM Resubmitted 09/30/2022 02:55 PM Filed 09/30/2022 02:55 PM

# In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals

JO ANN ALLEN,

Appellant,

 $\nu$ 

AC & R INSULATION COMPANY, et al.,

Appellees.

Appeals from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division No. CAA3862-20 (Hon. Alfred S. Irving, Jr., Judge)

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

\*MATTHEW E. KIELY
(DC Bar No. 444772)
Daniel A. Brown
(DC Bar No. 428560)
BROWN KIELY LLP
479 JUMPERS HOLE ROAD
SUITE 103
SEVERNA PARK, MD 21146
(410) 625-9330
mkiely@brownkielylaw.com
dbrown@brownkielylaw.com

Counsel for Appellant

SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

#### **CERTIFICATE AS TO PARTIES**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of GE on the Appellant's strict liability design defect claim.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jo Ann Allen was diagnosed with asbestos-induced malignant mesothelioma in 2020 and died from the disease on April 9, 2021. On September 2, 2020, Jo Ann Allen instituted this asbestos products liability action against several defendants. On November 15, 2021 Robin B. Quinn, the personal representative of the estate of Jo Ann Allen was substituted as plaintiff. (The Appellant will be referred to as Mrs. Allen).

On January 19, 2022, GE filed a Motion for Summary Judgment.<sup>1</sup> On April 27, 2022, the court granted GE's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed all of Mrs. Allen's claims against GE.

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In GE's Motion for Summary Judgment, it argued that Maryland law applied. Mrs. Allen did not contest the application of Maryland law for purposes of the summary judgment motion.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Jo Ann Allen was diagnosed with malignant mesothelioma in 2020 and died from the disease on April 9, 2021. (A349; A564). Mrs. Allen's mesothelioma was caused by her exposure to asbestos-containing products manufactured by GE. (A386; A395-432; A434-473). Specifically, during the period between mid-1963 to late-1964, Mrs. Allen's former husband, Willard Phillips, worked as an asbestos insulator during construction of PEPCO's Units 1 and 2 at the Chalk Point Power Plant in Lusby, Maryland. (A386). Mr. Phillips worked for The Walter E. Campbell Company ("WECCO"), a local insulation contractor. (A385). As a result of that work, Mr. Phillips was routinely exposed to asbestos materials that GE was contractually obligated to supply and install. (A395-432; A434-473). Mr. Phillips then carried that asbestos dust on his clothing into the home he was sharing with his wife, Jo Ann Allen. (A174-179).

On June 28, 1963, GE entered into contracts with PEPCO to furnish the steam turbine generators for Unit 1 and Unit 2 at Chalk Point. (A395-432 and A434-473). Pursuant to those contracts, GE sold to PEPCO for the sum of \$8,313,840.00, one steam turbine generator that GE manufactured for Unit 1 and for the sum of \$8,228,160.00, one steam turbine generator that GE manufactured for Unit 2. (*See* A431 and A472). Included in the

price and in the "Standard Accessories" that GE agreed to supply were all of the asbestos insulation materials to be applied to the turbines and piping systems. (*See* A413 and A455).

On July 5, 1963, PEPCO issued a Purchase Order to WECCO regarding the insulation on Unit 1 and Unit 2 at Chalk Point (the "Purchase Order.") (A479-483). The Purchase Order specifically states that PEPCO is directing WECCO to "Furnish all material, labor, plant and equipment necessary to install the thermal insulation . . ." on Unit 1 and Unit 2 at Chalk Point. (A479-483). However, the Purchase Order had a specific carve-out for the turbines. Specifically, the Purchase Order went on to say the following: "Furnish labor and equipment only [emphasis in original] to apply the insulating material on the Main Turbines and Boiler Feed Pump Turbines. Material for this work is to be supplied by the General Electric Company." (Emphasis supplied). (A479).

GE, in turn, entered into a subcontract with WECCO wherein WECCO agreed to supply and install the thermal insulation materials on the two GE turbines. (*See* A475, A477 and A479-483). GE specified asbestos block insulation and asbestos pipecovering and cement, among other items, to be sued in the construction of its turbines for Unit 1 and Unit 2 at Chalk Point. (*See* A485-489).

Donald Burroughs, a co-worker of Mr. Phillips at Chalk Point, testified that at least 1,000 bags of asbestos insulating cement were used on each turbine. (*See* A386). Mr. Burroughs further testified that he and Mr. Phillips used asbestos-containing pipe insulation during the insulation of the turbines, that the pipe insulation had to be cut, and the cutting created dust. (*See* A386).

Because there were no shower or locker facilities for workers to use at Chalk Point, Mr. Phillips wore his work clothes to and from the jobsite.

(A388-389, A391-392).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Superior Court Rule 56(a) requires a party to identify each claim on which they are seeking summary judgment. In GE's Motion for Summary Judgment, they identified the three claims upon which they were seeking summary judgment: negligent failure to warn, strict liability failure to warn, and breach of warranty. Nowhere in the Motion did GE identify strict liability design defect as a claim upon which they were seeking summary judgment.

The only mention of the words "design defect" appears in footnote 2 in the Memorandum of Points and Authorities accompanying GE's Motion for Summary Judgment. That footnote in its entirety states: "Plaintiff has

neither pleaded, nor proffered any evidence to support a design defect or manufacturing defect claim." As discussed in detail *infra*, Mrs. Allen did properly plead a cause of action for strict liability design defect in the Complaint. In addition, Mrs. Allen also proffered facts upon which a jury could reasonably infer that the GE asbestos components were in a condition not contemplated by the ultimate consumer which would be unreasonably dangerous to him or her.

GE's Motion also failed to comply with Superior Court Rule 12-I(d)(2),<sup>2</sup> which expressly requires that a motion for summary judgment be accompanied by "a statement of specific points and authorities that support the motion." GE failed to provide specific points and authorities to support a motion for summary judgment on design defect.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that a motion for summary judgment on design defect was properly before the court, the court improperly granted summary judgment on design defect because it did so on grounds that were never raised by GE. The trial court, *sua sponte*, ruled that Mrs. Allen's design defect claim failed as a matter of law because Mrs. Allen could not satisfy

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pursuant to Rule Promulgation Order 22-05, Superior Court Rule 12(I)(d)(2) was deleted as of April 25, 2022. GE's Motion for Summary judgment was filed on January 19, 2022. All of the summary judgment pleadings were completed prior to April 25, 2022.

the consumer expectation test. That argument was never advanced or even mentioned by GE in its summary judgment pleadings. Regardless, even if the consumer expectation argument was properly before the court, the court clearly erred when it ruled that "the asbestos products may have been unreasonably dangerous, but Plaintiff has failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether they were defective." (A568). The evidence before the court was that the GE turbines were designed and sold containing asbestos-containing thermal insulation. That insulation, when used as intended, released hazardous asbestos dust that deposited on the clothing of Mr. Phillips, who in turn brought it home on his clothing to his wife. Clearly, a jury could reasonably infer that the asbestos-containing components on the turbines were in a condition not contemplated by the ultimate consumer, which would be unreasonably dangerous to him.

Lastly, the holding in *Georgia-Pacific v. Farrar*, 69 A.3d 1028 (Md. 2013), which GE relied heavily upon, is not dispositive in this case. The *Farrar* case addressed whether an asbestos manufacturer had a duty to warn the spouse of an individual who was exposed to asbestos at work. The *Farrar* case in no way addressed a claim for strict liability design defect.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals reviews the grant of a motion for summary judgment *de novo*, applying the same standard utilized by the trial court. *Grant v. May Department Stores Co.*, 786 A.2d 580 (D.C. 2001).

Summary judgment may be granted when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. S.C.R.-Civ. 56(c). The moving party bears the burden of proving the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Grant v. May Dept. Stores*, 786 A.2d 580, 583 (D.C. 2001). In reviewing the record, the evidence is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Weakley v. Burnham Corp.*, 871 A.2d 1167, 1173 (D.C. 2005). Summary judgment may be granted only when the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law and it is "quite clear what the truth is." *Sartor v. Arkansas National Gas Corp.*, 321 U.S. 620, 627 (1944).

It is not the function of the court to resolve factual issues, but rather merely to determine whether any relevant factual issues exist. *International Underwriters, Inc. v. Boyle*, 365 A.2d 779, 782 (D.C. 1976). Mrs. Allen is entitled to the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence. *McCoy v. Quadrangle Dev. Corp.*, 470 A.2d 1256, 1258 (D.C. 1983).

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING GE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON MRS. ALLEN'S STRICT LIABILITY DESIGN DEFECT CLAIM

#### A. GE Did Not Move for Summary Judgment on Strict Liability Design Defect

Superior Court Civil Rule 56(a) requires a party to identify each claim or the part of each claim on which summary judgment is sought. In compliance with that Rule, GE specifically identified the claims on which it was seeking summary judgment. Specifically, in paragraph 3 of GE's Motion for Summary Judgment, GE stated:

General Electric is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiffs' negligence and strict liability failure to warn claims because, as a matter of Maryland law, General Electric owed no legal duty to Ms. Allen. The existence of a legal duty is a question of law for the Court. Under Maryland law, General Electric had no duty to warn Ms. Allen regarding the alleged danger of exposure to dust brought home by Mr. Phillips from his work at the construction of Chalk Point in 1963-1964. Additionally, General Electric is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's claims for breach of warranty as the applicable statute of limitations bars those claims.

(A35).

GE maintained that position in its Memorandum of Points and
Authorities in Support of Its Motion for Summary Judgment when it stated
at page 4: "Plaintiff's Negligence and Strict Liability Claims Fail Because

General Electric Had No Duty to Warn Ms. Allen Under Maryland Law." (A40).

The above quoted passages from GE's Motion for Summary

Judgment and Memorandum of Law set forth *all* of the claims on which GE sought summary judgment, as is required by Superior Court Civil Rule 56(a)

("A party may move for summary judgment, identifying each claim or defense – or the part of each claim or defense – on which summary judgment is sought."). Noticeably absent from the Motion is any identification of Mrs. Allen's strict liability design defect claim.

In addition to Superior Court Civil Rule 56(a), Superior Court Rule 12-I(d)(2) expressly requires that "Each motion must include or be accompanied by a statement of the specific points and authorities that support the motion, including, where appropriate, a concise statement of material facts." *See also* Rule 56(b)(2)(A). Upon even a cursory review of GE's Motion for Summary Judgment and its accompanying Memorandum, it is abundantly clear that GE did not set forth any argument whatsoever, let

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Pursuant to Rule Promulgation Order 22-05, Superior Court Rule 56(b)(2)(A) was amended and the requirement of a Statement of Points and Authorities was deleted as of April 25, 2022. GE's Motion for Summary judgment was filed on January 19, 2022. All of the summary judgment pleadings were completed prior to April 25, 2022.

alone specific points and authorities, in support of a motion for summary judgment on Mrs. Allen's strict liability design defect claim.<sup>4</sup>

The only mention of design defect in GE's Motion and Memorandum is in footnote 2 in the Memorandum that states: "Plaintiff has neither pleaded, nor proffered any evidence to support a design defect or manufacturing defect claim." (A40). Under any objective reading of that footnote, there is no way to construe it as an argument citing specific points and authorities in support of a motion for summary judgment on a design defect claim, as required by Rules 12-I and 56. Rather, the footnote is a concise explanation as to why GE opted not to move for summary judgment on the design defect claim (or a manufacturing defect claim). The reason GE did not move for summary judgment on strict liability design defect is because it mistakenly believed that there was no design defect claim in this case.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> GE argued in its pleadings that the Motion for Summary Judgment was styled as "General Electric Company's Motion for Summary Judgment as to All Claims." Regardless of what GE chose to call its motion, it is not excused from complying with Rules 12-I(d)(2) and 56(b)(2)(A), which require a statement of the specific points and authorities that support the motion. If it were otherwise, a party could simply file a summary judgment motion entitled "Motion for Summary Judgment on All Claims" and say no more.

GE is demonstrably incorrect in its assertion that Mrs. Allen did not plead a design defect claim. The following passage can leave no doubt that Mrs. Allen adequately plead a claim sounding in strict liability design defect. The Complaint states at ¶¶ 6-7 in relevant part the following:

[T]he illness, injury, and damages suffered by Ms. Allen were a direct and proximate result of the design . . . of asbestos-containing products, by Defendants, which defective and/or were unreasonably dangerous to the user and/or consumer . . . The asbestos-containing products further designed as defective and/or unreasonably dangerous in that their intended use and maintenance contemplated that the asbestos materials would be disturbed, releasing respirable asbestos fibers . . . Defendants named above are now or have been engaged in the business of designing, manufacturing, selling . . . asbestoscontaining products . . . The asbestos products that caused injury to Ms. Allen reached her without substantial change in the condition in which they were sold. Ms. Allen was unaware of the dangerous propensities of the asbestos products which rendered them unsafe and unfit for their intended use and, at the time she was exposed to these products, such exposure was anticipated by or should reasonably have been anticipated by Defendants. As a direct and proximate result of the strict liability of Defendants herein, Ms. Allen developed mesothelioma.

(A356).

Because GE mistakenly believed that Mrs. Allen did not plead a claim for strict liability design defect in the Complaint, it did not raise specific

points and authorities in its Memorandum as to why it was entitled to summary judgment on Mrs. Allen's design defect claim. Had GE actually moved for summary judgment on strict liability design defect, Mrs. Allen would have addressed those arguments. Likewise, GE is incorrect in its assertion that Mrs. Allen did not proffer any evidence to support a design defect claim. As discussed in more detail *infra*, there is no dispute that GE designed, specified and sold the turbines at issue with asbestos-containing thermal insulation, i.e., pipecovering, block and cement. The turbine components were *designed* to contain asbestos at the time of the sale and, when used as intended, released hazardous dust that deposited on the clothing of Mr. Phillips.

B. Assuming, Arguendo, That There Was a Motion for Summary Judgment on Design Defect Properly Before the Trial Court, the Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment on Mrs. Allen's Strict Liability Design Defect Claim on Grounds That Were Never Raised by GE

It is well established that summary judgment may not be entered on a ground that was not raised by the moving party without first providing the non-movant adequate notice and opportunity to respond. (Superior Court Civil Rule 56(f)). The D.C. Court of Appeals has expressly stated that Rule 56(f) "plays a critical access-to-justice role in the civil process by guaranteeing all litigants meaningful notice and a fair opportunity to defend

the legal sufficiency of their claims and defenses before judgment can be entered against them." *Radbod v. Moghim*, 269 A.3d 1035, 1042 (D.C. 2022).

On dated April 27, 2022, the court entered an Order granting the motion for summary judgment on all claims, even on those grounds not advanced by GE in its motion, i.e., strict liability design defect. With no motion and memorandum of points and authorities before it relative to design defect, the court not only determined the issue adverse to Mrs. Allen, but did so on grounds that were never raised by GE in any of its pleadings.

In its April 27, 2022 Order, the trial court, *sua sponte* ruled that Mrs. Allen's design defect claim failed as a matter of law because Mrs. Allen could not satisfy the consumer expectation test articulated in *Phipps v*. *General Motors Corp.*, 363 A.2d 955, 962 (Md. 1976). (A567-568). The trial court made that ruling notwithstanding the fact that GE never argued that Mrs. Allen could not satisfy the consumer expectation test or any aspect of it, let alone allege any absence of material facts in connection with the consumer expectation test, which might have merited a response (factual and/or legal) from Mrs. Allen. Indeed, nowhere in GE's Motion for Summary Judgment or accompanying memorandum, or in GE's Reply

Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, do the words "consumer expectation test" even appear.

In ruling that Mrs. Allen could not satisfy the consumer expectation test, the court ran afoul of both Rule 56(f) and *Radbod*. The court in *Radbod* stated that Rule 56(f) "makes plain that a Superior Court judge has authority to grant summary judgment in favor of a party who has not requested it—or on a ground not advanced by any moving party—only if the judge has provided the party against whom judgment would be entered notice of the possibility of an adverse pretrial determination of a claim". *Radbod* at 1092. *See also Baicker-McKee and Janssen*, Fed. Civil Rules Handbook, 2022, p. 1211 ("Litigants must appreciate that they are targets of summary judgment inquiry and possess that motivation when preparing their response.").

C. Assuming, Arguendo, that GE Properly Moved for Summary Judgment on Strict Liability Design Defect, and That It Was Permissible for the Trial Court to Grant Summary Judgment on the Design Defect on Grounds Never Raised by GE, the Court Still Erred Because Mrs. Allen Can Satisfy the Consumer Expectation Test

The Court of Appeals has held that there are two varieties of strict liability design defect claims recognized under Maryland law: (1) cases in which the design causes the product to malfunction (*i.e.*, something goes wrong), and (2) cases in which the product behaves as intended but is inherently defective because its use involves an unreasonable risk. *Halliday* 

v. Sturm, Ruger Co., 368 Md. 186, 195-200 (2002). In design defect malfunction cases, the Court applies a risk-utility test which weighs a series of factors including whether a safer design was feasible. Id.<sup>5</sup> In contrast, absent a malfunction, the Court applies the consumer expectation test to a strict liability design defect claim. Id. at 200 (Court applied consumer expectation test and held "the risk-utility test does not apply to a design defect unless the product malfunctions in some way.").

These two varieties of design defect claim are embodied in separate

Maryland Civil Pattern Jury Instructions. MPJI-Cv 26:14 "Defective

Condition – Design Defect" sets forth the "consumer expectation test" used in cases such as this, where the product functions as intended but nevertheless poses an unreasonable risk: "A product is defectively designed if it is made as designed by the manufacturer, but the design puts the product in a condition not contemplated by the ultimate user which condition is

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the trial court's April 27, 2022 Order granting summary judgment, the court stated that: "there is no indication that the asbestos-containing products malfunctioned or were otherwise defective." (A568). In Maryland, there is no requirement that a product malfunction in order to be subject to a strict liability design defect claim *unless* a plaintiff is seeking to apply the risk utility test as opposed to the consumer expectation test. *Halliday v. Sturm, Ruger Co.*, 368 Md. 186, 200 (2002) ("the risk-utility test does not apply to a design defect unless the product malfunctions in some way"). The consumer expectation test, in contrast to the risk-utility test, does not require proof of malfunction. *Id.* at 194.

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