In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals



Received 10/31/2022 01:03 PM Resubmitted 10/31/2022 04:40 PM Resubmitted 11/01/2022 12:38 PM

JO ANN ALLEN,

Appellant,

V.

AC & R INSULATION COMPANY, et al.,

Appellees.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division No. CAA3862-20 (Hon. Alfred S. Irving, Jr., Judge)

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

Donald S. Meringer
(D.C. Bar No. 463859)
*Michael L. Haslup
(D.C. Bar No. 988140)
Miles & Stockbridge P.C.
100 Light Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
(410) 727-6464
dmeringer@milesstockbridge.com
mhaslup@milesstockbridge.com

Counsel for Appellee,

General Electric Company.

LISTING OF PARTIES AND COUNSEL

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

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals reviews the grant of a motion for summary judgment de novo, applying the same standard utilized by the trial court. *Grant v. May Department Stores Co.*, 786 A.2d 580 (D.C. 2001). However, "[i]t is a well-established rule that a party who fails to raise an issue at trial generally waives the right to raise that issue on appeal." *Gillespie v. Washington*, 395 A.2d 18, 21 (D.C. 1978). "This rule applies specifically in a case of summary judgment." *Id.*; *see also*

Dorsky Hodgson & Partners, Inc. v. Nat'l Council of Sr. Citizens, 766 A.2d 54, 58 (D.C. 2001) (a plaintiff's failure to explain the basis for her claim "in opposing summary judgment constitutes a waiver of that claim").

Summary judgment is appropriate where the moving party shows "that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." D.C. Super. Ct. R. Civ. P. 56(c); see also Weakley v. Burnham Corp., 871 A.2d 1167, 1173 (D.C. 2005) (citing Clyburn v. 1411 K Street Ltd. P'ship, 628 A.2d 1015, 1017 (D.C. 1993)). The record is viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and the court does not make credibility determinations or weigh the evidence presented at the summary judgment stage. Id. (citing Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986)).

The moving party satisfies its burden on a summary judgment motion by demonstrating that there is a lack of evidence to support the non-moving party's claims. *See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). A moving party need only demonstrate that the plaintiff failed to "make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential" for the non-moving party to prove its case. *Id.* If the moving party satisfies its burden of demonstrating the absence of supporting evidence, the non-moving party must then establish from the available evidence the existence of a genuine dispute of material fact.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment as to Plaintiff's Design Defect Claim.
 - A. GE's Motion for Summary Judgment as to All Claims Sought Summary Judgment as to All Claims.

Plaintiff's first contention—that General Electric's Motion for Summary Judgment as to All Claims (the "All Claims Motion") did not seek summary judgment as to her strict liability design defect claim—is false. As its title indicates, the All Claims Motion expressly stated that General Electric sought "summary judgment as to *all claims* asserted against it" in this case. (A34) (emphasis added). General Electric went on to identify the claims on which it sought summary judgment with specificity:

Plaintiff asserts survival claims based upon negligence (Count I), *strict liability* (*Count II*), and breach of Warranty (Count III) and seeks compensatory and punitive damages. Defendant/Cross-Plaintiffs seek contribution. As set forth below, General Electric is entitled to summary judgment with regard to *all claims asserted against it*.

(A37–38) (emphasis added).

The design defect claim at issue here is part of Plaintiff's strict liability claim (Count II) on which General Electric expressly sought summary judgment as set forth above. (A27–28). The All Claims Motion unambiguously asserted that Plaintiff had not "proffered any evidence to support a *design defect* or

manufacturing defect claim." (A40) (emphasis added). Contrary to Plaintiff's argument, it is clear that the All Claims Motion sought summary judgment on her strict liability design defect claims along with all of her other claims.

B. Plaintiff Expressly Understood that She Must Proffer Evidence of Design Defect in Her Summary Judgment Opposition, But She Did Not and Her Belated Arguments are Waived.

Not only is it clear from the face of the All Claims Motion that it applies to Plaintiff's design defect claims, but Plaintiff also expressly acknowledged that fact in her Opposition. Specifically, she observed that "GE has moved for summary judgment *seeking a dismissal of the entirety of Count 2* [Plaintiff's strict liability claim] based on its argument that it had no duty to warn." (A354) (emphasis added). Although Plaintiff mischaracterized General Electric's basis for summary judgment as to design defect, which included not only lack of duty but also lack of any evidence to support a design defect claim, Plaintiff clearly understood the scope of the relief sought—summary judgment as to all claims, including "the entirety" of her strict liability claim. (*Id.*).

_

¹ In her brief and in her papers below, Plaintiff devotes considerable attention to the statement in the All Claims Motion that Plaintiff had not "pleaded" a design defect claim. The All Claims Motion is a summary judgment motion; not a motion to dismiss. Moreover, the trial court did not grant judgment based upon inadequate pleading but based upon Plaintiff's failure to proffer evidence. The adequacy of Plaintiff's pleadings is not relevant to this appeal.

Fully on notice that *all* her claims against General Electric were in peril,

Plaintiff promised in her Opposition to "set forth in detail" the evidence to support
a design defect theory. (A354). Despite obtaining General Electric's consent to
exceed the page limitations for her Opposition (A565–A566) however, Plaintiff
made no attempt to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact as to the elements
of a design defect claim. Instead, she argued that the Maryland Court of Appeals
holding in *Georgia-Pacific v. Farrar*, 69 A.3d 1028 (Md. 2013) is not dispositive
of her design defect claims (A355) and disputed General Electric's statement that
Plaintiff had not *pleaded* a design defect claim by quoting certain allegations in the
Complaint (A366).²

In her Opposition, Plaintiff listed the following legal elements of a design defect claim:

(1) the seller was engaged in the business of selling the product that caused the harm; (2) the existence of a design defect in the product rendering it unreasonably dangerous to the consumer or user, (3) the product was expected to reach the user without any substantial change from the condition in which it was sold; [and] (4) proof that the defect was a proximate cause of the injury.

(A355). In a footnote, Plaintiff cited evidence as to the first element. (*Id.* at n.4). Plaintiff cited no evidence in her Opposition, however, to support the other three elements. She did not identify a defect in any General Electric product or cite any

² See, Footnote 1, supra.

facts demonstrating that any General Electric product was unreasonably dangerous. She did not provide any legal or factual basis to conclude that Ms. Allen, who never visited Chalk Point and never encountered the General Electric turbines there or the thermal insulation installed on those turbines, was a "user" or "consumer" of any General Electric product. She did not reference evidence that any General Electric product was expected to and did reach Ms. Allen "without substantial change from the condition in which it was sold." Finally, she pointed to no evidence that a defect in a General Electric product was a proximate cause of Ms. Allen's injuries. Plaintiff's Opposition is silent on these points.³

Although Plaintiff later argued in her Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, (and now argues on appeal), that she has sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of fact as to design defect under the "consumer expectations test," that argument is absent from Plaintiff's Opposition to the All Claims Motion and she cannot raise it now.⁴ *See Gillespie*, 395 A.2d at 21 (citing the "well established"

_

³ Perhaps belatedly realizing some of the fatal omissions in her Opposition, Plaintiff unsuccessfully sought leave to file a surreply. (A551–552). The trial court rightly denied Plaintiff's motion to file a surreply as she provided no justification in her motion for leave beyond the conclusory and insufficient statement that General Electric "raised issues in its Reply Brief that require further discussion." (A566). It does not appear that Plaintiff challenges the trial court's refusal to consider her proposed surreply in this appeal.

⁴ As set forth in the following sections of this brief, it is not clear that the consumer expectation test applies and, even if considered, Plaintiff's belated arguments are unavailing.

rule" that a party who fails to raise an argument at trial, including at summary judgment, generally waives the right to raise it on appeal); *see also Dorsky Hodgson & Partners, Inc.*, 766 A.2d at 58 (a plaintiff's failure to explain the basis for her claim "in opposing summary judgment constitutes a waiver of that claim").

In denying Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, the trial court succinctly and accurately dispensed with the very same arguments that Plaintiff urges in this appeal. After examining the record, it concluded that Plaintiff's assertion that the All Claims Motion did not seek summary judgment on her design defect claims was "wrong." (A592-593). It further observed that Plaintiff had "adequate notice that summary judgment could be granted as to her strict liability design defect claim" and that Plaintiff "even indicated that she intended to provide a legal and factual basis for her [design defect claim], but failed to do so." (A593).

Each argument raised in Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment (and, by extension, each argument Plaintiff raises in this appeal) could have been—and should have been—raised in Plaintiff's Opposition to the All Claims Motion, but was not. Accordingly, these arguments are waived and the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment as to Plaintiff's strict liability design defect claim.

C. The Court Granted Summary Judgment as to Plaintiff's Design Defect Claim on the Very Basis Raised in GE's Motion—No Evidence of a Defective Design.

Far from a *sua sponte* order, the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment as to Plaintiff's strict liability design defect claim was based upon the very argument raised in the All Claims Motion—that Plaintiff had failed to produce any evidence to support a design defect claim. (A568). The trial court observed that a design defect claim requires evidence that the product at issue was defective and unreasonably dangerous at the time it was placed on the market. (A567). It found, correctly, that Plaintiff had proffered "no facts from which a jury could conclude that [the insulation material at issue] was, at the time it left Defendant's hands, in a condition not contemplated by the ultimate consumer." (A568).

Plaintiff's argument on appeal that the consumer expectation test applies and that she has evidence to satisfy that test is nowhere to be found in her Opposition to the All Claims Motion. The phrase "consumer expectation" does not appear in her Opposition. Moreover, Plaintiff has not cited a single case applying the consumer expectation test to an asbestos-containing product under Maryland law. Even if the consumer expectation test applies, Plaintiff has supplied no evidence (on appeal or, critically, in her Opposition to the All Claims Motion) that: (1) Ms. Allen is a "user" of the thermal insulation that she never encountered; or (2) the

thermal insulation at issue "was expected to and did reach [Ms. Allen] without substantial change in its condition." *Phipps*, 363 A.2d at 958. Quite the contrary, Plaintiff's claims are based on exposure to dust carried home from the worksite on Ms. Allen's husband's clothes, not any contact with the thermal insulation.

It is far from clear that Maryland courts would apply the consumer expectation test, rather than the risk-utility test, to a power generation turbine built in the 1960s with a design incorporating asbestos-containing thermal insulation. In arguing for the application of the consumer expectation test, Plaintiff cites Halliday v. Sturm, Ruger & Co., Inc., 792 A.2d 1145 (Md. 2002), a case involving a young child who accidentally shot and killed himself with a handgun. The plaintiff in that case contended that the gun was defective in that its design did not include a child safety device. *Id.* at 1148. The Maryland Court of Appeals applied the consumer expectation test and determined that a handgun that performs its intended function of firing a bullet is not defective. Id. at 1158. Halliday is distinguishable from cases such as this one. See Lloyd v. General Motors Corp., 275 F.R.D. 224 (D. Md. 2011). In *Lloyd*, the United States District Court for the District of Maryland considered a design defect case, under Maryland law, involving motor vehicle seats that were allegedly "prone to collapse rearward in moderate speed rear-impact collisions." Id. at 226. The seats in question did not malfunction and the plaintiff, citing *Halliday*, argued that the court should apply

the consumer expectation test. *Id.* at 229. The *Lloyd* court rejected that argument and distinguished *Halliday*. First, it found that a product designed to inflict harm on humans, such as a handgun, has "no application to motor vehicles." Second, it noted that *Halliday*, unlike *Lloyd*, was a safety device case. It reasoned that "it would be pointless to ask whether a reasonable consumer would or would not expect a seatback to deform backwards in a moderate speed rear-impact collision" without evidence of the "safety tradeoffs involved in making the seatbacks more rigid" or "whether potentially safer alternative designs were technologically feasible, cost-effective, and available when the vehicles were manufactured." *Id.* at 230. Accordingly, the *Lloyd* court concluded that Maryland courts would apply the risk-utility test to such claims. *Id.*

The instant case, like *Lloyd* and unlike *Halliday*, does not involve a weapon. The General Electric turbines did not cause injury through their intended function of producing electricity and, similarly, the thermal insulation applied to those turbines did not cause injury by reducing the flow of heat. Moreover, unlike *Halliday*, the alleged design defect here is not the lack of a safety device. As the *Lloyd* court reasoned, it would be pointless to ask a reasonable consumer's expections in this case without evidence as to whether it was even possible, in 1963 and 1964, to design and build power generation turbines like those at issue in this case without asbestos-containing thermal insulation. To determine

defectiveness without such evidence would transform strict liability into absolute liability. Plaintiff provided no evidence in her Opposition to the All Claims Motion, or here, to satisfy the elements of the risk-utility test.⁵

As discussed in the previous section, Plaintiff was admittedly on notice that the All Claims Motion encompassed her design defect claims, pledged to provide evidence to support such claims, and then failed to do so. Summary judgment on that basis was not *sua sponte*. Plaintiff was not deprived of an opportunity to raise evidence of a design defect claim, but rather squandered that opportunity on her own. Accordingly, Plaintiff's reliance on *Radbod v. Moghim*, 269 A.3d 1035 (2022) is misplaced.

In *Radbod*, the plaintiff sued two defendants for breach of contract, fraud, and other claims. *Radbod*, 269 A.3d at 1038. One defendant moved for summary judgment based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction, the statute of limitations, and the statute of frauds. *Id.* at 1038–39. The other defendant did not move for summary judgment. *Id.* After the plaintiff filed an opposition, the trial court entered summary judgment for both defendants based on lack of personal jurisdiction. The order was *sua sponte* for two independent reasons: (1) it granted

⁵ Under the risk-utility test, "[a] product is defective in design when the foreseeable risk of harm could have been reduced or avoided by the adoption of a reasonable alternative design. It is the omission of the reasonable alternative design that renders the product not reasonably safe." *Lloyd*, 275 F.R.D. at 229.

summary judgment for a party that never moved for it; and (2) it granted summary judgment based upon an affirmative defense (lack of personal jurisdiction) not raised by the moving party. The Court of Appeals reversed because the trial court did not satisfy the Rule 56(f) requirement to provide the plaintiff with notice and an opportunity to be heard before granting summary judgment *sua sponte*.

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